IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1520

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 89-1139-CFC

MICHAEL COLEMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Fla. Bar No. 0754773 McClain & McDermott, P.A. Attorneys at Law

141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, Florida 33334 Telephone: (305) 984-8344 FAX: (954)564-5412

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 28, 1989, Michael Coleman, Timothy Robinson and Darrell Frazier were indicted by an Escambia County grand jury, on four counts of first degree murder,² one count of attempted first degree murder, six counts of kidnapping, two counts of sexual battery,³ one count of conspiracy to traffic cocaine, one count of burglary of a dwelling and two counts of robbery (R. 2101-05).⁴ Trial started on May 22, 1989, and on June 1, 1989, Mr. Coleman was found guilty on all counts (R. 2415-23).⁵

²The murder victims were Derek Hill, Morris Alphonso Douglas, Michael McCormick and Mildred Baker.

³Darrell Frazier was not charged on the sexual battery counts.

⁴These three individuals were tried together. Two other codefendants were also indicted on the four homicides. Ronald Lee Williams was tried separately in a subsequent trial. Bruce Frazier, the fifth co-defendant, plead to the lesser included offense of second degree murder.

⁵Timothy Robinson, Darrell Frazier and Ronald Lee Williams were also convicted of first degree murder.

Following a penalty phase conducted on June 2, 1989, the jury recommended life by a vote of six (6) to six (6). However, the trial court imposed death over the jury's recommendation and on September 29, 1989, the court entered its written findings (R. 2609-14). On appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions and death sentences. <u>Coleman v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 321 (1994).

In postconviction proceedings, Mr. Coleman was initially represented by the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR). CCR sought to withdraw and moved for the appointment of conflict-free counsel because it had also been appointed to represent two of Mr. Coleman's co-defendants (PC-S. 15, 40). After a series of motions before this Court as well as the circuit court, attorney Maria Laverde was appointed as counsel for Mr. Coleman on October 14, 1998 (PC-S. 428-29). On February 4, 2000, Laverde filed an amended motion to vacate (PC-R. 349-447).⁶

On July 25, 2000, a <u>Huff</u> hearing was held in circuit court (PC-R. 519-69). Subsequently, the court granted an evidentiary hearing on several of Mr. Coleman's claims (PC-R. 570-73). The evidentiary hearing was held on January 24-25, 2001.

^oOn March 24, 1997, CCR filed a 3.850 motion on behalf of Mr. Coleman (PC-S. 169-209). In that motion, CCR explained that although it had a conflict of interest in this case, it was filing an incomplete motion in order to toll Mr. Coleman's federal habeas clock (PC-S. 170-184).

After the evidentiary hearing, but prior to the circuit court's ruling, Laverde filed on February 28, 2002 a Motion for Appointment of Neuropsychological Expert to Conduct Testing of Michael Coleman (PC-R. 1241-43). Dr. Toomer had testified at the evidentiary hearing that Mr. Coleman's IQ was 67. In light of the newly enacted statute barring the execution of the mentally retarded, and that the grant of certiorari review by the U.S. Supreme Court in order to address whether it was constitutional to execute the mentally retarded, counsel sought a determination of whether Mr. Coleman was retarded (PC-R. 1241-42).⁷

On October 6, 2003, Laverde asked to withdraw from the case on the ground that she was unable to pay the annual Florida bar dues (PC-R. 1246). The circuit court granted the motion (PC-R. 1247-48), and on March 30, 2004, attorney Baya Harrison was appointed as registry counsel for Mr. Coleman (PC-R. 1254).

On May 10, 2004, Harrison filed an amended postconviction motion based on <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) (PC-R. 1262-67). On May 14, 2004, Harrison filed a Notice in which he sought to withdraw the <u>Atkins</u> claim and the abeyance request (PC-R. 1273-74). According to Harrison, Dr. Toomer had indicated in his postconviction testimony that Mr. Coleman was not mentally retarded (PC-R. 1273).

⁷Laverde also filed a motion to hold proceedings in abeyance until the mental retardation issue was resolved (PC-S. 754).

On July 16, 2004, the circuit court issued an Order Denying the Defendant's motion to vacate (PC-R. 1285-1323). On July 28, 2004, Harrison filed a Notice of Appeal on behalf of Mr. Coleman (PC-R. 1324-25). An amended Notice of Appeal was filed on August 4, 2004 (PC-R. 1328-29).

While his appeal was pending in this Court, Mr. Coleman's family retained undersigned counsel to handle Mr. Coleman's appeal. When reviewing the record on appeal, undersigned counsel discovered that at the 2001 evidentiary hearing, testimony was presented that Mr. Coleman had an IQ score of 67. After discovering this testimony in the record, undersigned filed a motion seeking relinquishment of jurisdiction in order to permit presentation of a claim that Mr. Coleman was mentally retarded and that his execution was barred by the Eighth Amendment.

On September 23, 2005, this Court issued an order relinquishing jurisdiction for a determination of Mr. Coleman's mental retardation. <u>Coleman v. State</u>, Case No. SC04-1520, September 23, 2005, Order. Thereafter, on January 19, 2006, undersigned counsel filed in the circuit court a Motion to Withdraw for Purposes of the <u>Atkins</u> Proceedings (PC-S2. 955). Undersigned counsel explained that he had been retained for purposes of the appeal in this case (PC-S2. 955), and that he was not retained for <u>Atkins</u> proceedings (PC-S2. 957). Undersigned counsel was directed by the circuit court to file his motion to withdraw in this Court, which he did on January

27, 2006. On May 5, 2006, this Court issued an order transferring Mr. Coleman's motion to the circuit court for resolution. <u>Coleman v. State</u>, Case No. SC04-1520, May 5, 2006, Order.

Also during this time frame, undersigned counsel had filed several motions in this Court in an attempt to obtain records relating to Mr. Coleman's case from prior collateral counsel, Harrison. Undersigned related that he had received little from Harrison despite the fact that Harrison had billed a significant amount of money for time expended on behalf of Mr. Coleman. Further, in footnote 2 of an emergency petition to this Court, undersigned stated:

> In reviewing the record, undersigned counsel also discovered that Mr. Coleman had diligently sought to present his mental retardation claim. Mr. Coleman's first registry attorney, Ms. Laverde, sought to raise mental retardation as a bar to his execution in February of 2002, within one year of the enactment of Section 921.137, Fla. Stat. (2001). Later in June of 2002, the United States Supreme Court issued Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). Thereafter, Ms. Laverde submitted notice of Atkins as supplemental authority. When Ms. Laverde was replaced as registry counsel, her successor, Baya Harrison, purported to withdraw Mr. Coleman's claim. This was done without Mr. Coleman's knowledge or consent. As has been revealed in the proceedings on undersigned counsel's motion to obtain Mr. Coleman's attorney files, Mr. Harrison had not obtain the mental health records from Ms. Laverde that support Mr. Coleman's retardation claim when he filed to withdraw the claim.

Coleman v. State, Case No. SC05-2217, December 19, 2005,

Emergency Petition.

On May 4, 2006, this Court entered an order stating: The Court has considered the allegations concerning registry counsel Harrison in note 2 on page 3 of the petition. To monitor the performance of assigned counsel in accordance with section 27.711(12), Florida Statutes (2005), Harrison shall file in the circuit court a response to note 2 of the petition within thirty (30) days of the service of the petition. This response shall also be served upon petitioner's counsel, counsel for the State of Florida, and the Executive Director of the Commission on Capital Cases. Thereafter, the circuit court shall holding a hearing and consider whether any sanctions should be imposed by reason of the allegations, including the reimbursement of the State of attorney fees paid to Harrison. Harrison, McClain, counsel for the State, and the Executive Director of the Commission on Capital Cases shall be served notice of the date and time of the hearing and shall appear at the hearing. Within thirty (30) days of the hearing, the circuit court shall file and serve a report and recommendations with this Court.

Coleman v. State, Case No. SC05-2217, May 4, 2006, Order.

On May 19, 2006, the circuit court granted undersigned counsel's motion to withdraw and appointed Harrison to represent Mr. Coleman in the pending proceedings (PC-S2. 984-85). On May 26, 2006, undersigned counsel filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge and Supporting Memorandum of Law. The motion was based on the fact that despite the directive from this Court to hold a hearing regarding Harrison and his conduct as Mr. Coleman's registry counsel, the circuit court entered an order for Harrison to once again serve as Mr. Coleman's registry counsel.⁸ The motion was denied on June 6, 2006 (PC-S2. 993).

⁸In this regard, the lower court specifically stated: "The Court finds that Mr. Harrison meets the statutory requirements for appointment and has the ethical standards necessary for such representation in accordance with Fla. Stat. §27.710(5)(b)." (PC-S2. 984-85). Undersigned counsel asserted that the circuit court had prejudged the matter upon which this Court had ordered the court to conduct a hearing.

On June 12, 2006, Harrison filed a Motion to Withdraw as Reappointed Counsel for the Defendant. On July 5, 2007, undersigned counsel filed a Second Motion to Disqualify Judge and Notice that Mr. Coleman May be Incompetent (PC-S2. 1037-50).⁹ This motion was denied on July 13, 2007 (PC-S2. 1071).

On August 18, 2006, the circuit court granted Harrison's motion to withdraw and appointed attorney Harry Brody to represent Mr. Coleman (PC-S2. 1009-10).

On March 13, 2007, the circuit court issued an order appointing Dr. James Larson on behalf of the State to evaluate Mr. Coleman for a determination of mental retardation (PC-S2. 1022). The court also noted that defense counsel previously represented that it had retained Dr. Jethro Toomer to evaluate Mr. Coleman (PC-S2. 1022).

On July 17, 2007, an evidentiary hearing was held on Mr. Coleman's claim that he was mentally retarded (PC-S2. 1072). On July 31, 2007, the circuit court issued an order finding that Mr. Coleman was not mentally retarded (PC-S2. 1311-22). On August 27, 2007, a Notice of Appeal was filed (PC-S2. 1510-11).

On August 2, 2007, the circuit court held a hearing concerning the allegations against Harrison (PC-S2. 1490). After the hearing the court issued an order on August 28, 2007 (PC-S2. 1490-92). In that order, the court recommended that Harrison's assistant, John Nall, repay the State of Florida

⁹This motion to disqualify was based on an improper *ex parte* communication between the circuit court and Harrison.

\$3,440 (PC-S2. 1492). The court found no error in Harrison's decision to abandon Mr. Coleman's mental retardation claim and recommended no sanctions against Harrison (PC-S2. 1491-92). On September 27, 2007, a Notice of Appeal was filed (PC-S2. 1521-22).

On April 2, 2008, undersigned counsel filed a Motion for Relinquishment of Jurisdiction for Consideration of New Evidence in this Court. This motion was premised upon this Court's recent decision to reduce Ronald Williams' death sentence as providing a reasonable basis for the jury's recommendation that Mr. Coleman receive a life sentence. On August 28, 2008, this Court issued an order denying the motion but gave Mr. Coleman leave to brief the issue herein. <u>Coleman</u> v. State, Case No. SC04-1520, August 28, 2008 Order.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

THE TRIAL

Testimony was presented at trial regarding an organization known as the "Miami Boys", headquartered in Miami, Florida, which operated a drug distribution organization throughout the State of Florida, essentially distributing crack cocaine to a series of lieutenants and workers living in different parts of the state. The organization was headed by Ronald Williams (R. 613, 641, 766, 1597). The supervisor of the Pensacola drug distribution area was Bruce Frazier.

Bruce Frazier had an apartment in Pensacola where he lived and where the crack cocaine and proceeds from its sale

were kept (R. 649, 721, 727). Upon receipt of a supply of crack cocaine, Bruce Frazier would sell the drugs through several sellers from the Truman Arms apartment complex in Pensacola (R. 649-50). The proceeds were returned to Bruce Frazier who kept them in a safe at his apartment at the Beauclair apartment complex (R. 650, 682)

In August of 1988, Williams drove to Jacksonville, Florida, with a number of other people. Williams met Timothy Robinson in Jacksonville, where Williams revealed that he was in possession of a large quantity of cocaine (R. 646). This group then went to Pensacola, Florida, the next day, where the cocaine was left with Bruce Frazier for distribution (R. 648). Upon sale, the money was placed in Bruce Frazier's safe (R. 682).

Bruce Frazier's girlfriend, Renee Grandison, lived at Truman Arms, which complex was a major distribution point for the cocaine (R. 738). Just before September 20, 1988, Grandison and Bruce Frazier argued, at which time Grandison threatened to notify the police of Bruce Frazier's drug involvement (R. 743). In fear that she would carry out her threats, Bruce Frazier directed that the safe containing the crack and the money be moved from his apartment to the apartment of Michael McCormick. McCormick was a worker for the organization and occupied a duplex apartment with Mildred Baker. The other side of the duplex was rented by Derek Hill and Morris Alphonso Douglas.

After the safe was relocated to McCormick's apartment it was stolen by Hill and Douglas, who took the safe to the home

of Tina Crenshaw (R. 1179). Present at the time the two men forced open the safe, in addition to Crenshaw, was another individual, Amanda Merrill (R. 1181). Upon opening the safe, several thousand dollars in cash and a quantity of crack was discovered (R. 1182-83, 1214). Crenshaw took the money, placing it in a pillowcase which she hid in a closet in her home (R. 1183). As for the crack, she placed it in a duffle bag and hid it in her car (R. 1184). Hill and Douglas left Crenshaw's home, but returned a few hours later, at which time they gave some money to Merrill and Crenshaw and then the four went to a dog track in Pensacola (R. 1184).

Hill, Douglas, Crenshaw and Merrill eventually returned to Hill's apartment for dinner (R. 1185). When there was a knock on the door, Hill opened it to find McCormick accompanied by three men later identified as Timothy Robinson, Michael Coleman, and Bruce Frazier, all of whom were carrying guns (R. 1186). McCormick, who was talking loudly, told Hill "these people want their stuff, and they're not playing." (R. 1294). Hill pretended not to know to what McCormick was referring (R. 1294).

Thereafter, Robinson told everyone to sit down and shut up (R. 1294). He also made everyone take off their clothes, and searched the area for weapons (R. 1295). Robinson hit McCormick with his gun several times and then pointed the gun in everyone's face, stating "somebody better start talking and start talking fast." Robinson then struck Hill,

subsequently stabbing him with a knife obtained from the kitchen (R. 1297).

Crenshaw then told the intruders she knew where to find the "stuff" they were looking for (R. 1297). Robinson took her to a bedroom to interrogate her (R. 1297). Bruce Frazier accompanied Robinson, and he returned shortly to the other room to inquire as to where Crenshaw's clothes were located. He then took the clothes back into the bedroom (R. 1297).

At about the same time, Darrell Frazier came to the apartment with Mildred Baker (R. 1298). Baker was also directed to remove her clothing, and was left at the apartment, tied up, with Hill, Douglas, McCormick, and Merrill (R. 1299-1300). Bruce Frazier and Darrell Frazier left the apartment with Crenshaw and drove her to her house to retrieve the safe.

Once at Crenshaw's home, Darrell Frazier told her all he wanted was to get this "stuff" back (R. 1189). Crenshaw told Darrell Frazier that the duffle bag with the cocaine was in her car, which he retrieved and put in his own car (R. 1190). Darrell Frazier was let in to Crenshaw's home by Crenshaw's mother, while Crenshaw remained in Darrell Frazier's car (R. 1190). Darrell Frazier began to search Crenshaw's home, but unable to find the money, he returned to his car. Crenshaw was then untied and she returned to the home with Darrell Frazier and retrieved the pillowcase with the cash (R. 1190-91). As Darrell Frazier left Crenshaw's home, Crenshaw closed the door,

shutting both of the Fraziers outside (R. 1192). Darrell and Bruce Frazier then returned to the duplex (R. 1192).

While the Fraziers and Tina Crenshaw were gone, Robinson and allegedly Mr. Coleman engaged in involuntary sexual relations with Baker and Merrill (R. 1300-01). DNA examination established that Robinson was involved in sexual activity with both women, but it did not support the presence of Mr. Coleman's DNA (R. 1040, 1044, 1055).

Upon the Fraziers' return, Merrill, who had been moved to a bedroom, testified she heard one of them tell Robinson, "We got what we want, come on, let's go" (R. 1303). Robinson responded, "No, I am going to do this." (R. 1303). Merrill then testified that she heard a gunshot in the other room (R. 1303). At about the same time, Merrill testified that Mr. Coleman entered the bedroom and cut her neck with a knife (R. 1303). Mr. Coleman walked out and Merrill then heard additional shots; Mr. Coleman again returned to the bedroom and cut her neck twice more and then left (R. 1303-04). Merrill then testified that she heard Baker telling the occupants of the other room that she would tell them what she knew, after which Merrill heard additional gunshots (R. 1304). Someone then returned to Merrill's room and shot her (R. 1304). After the men had left the apartment Merrill untied herself, left the apartment, and called 911 (R. 1305).

In his defense, Mr. Coleman presented an alibi, asserting that he was in Miami at the time of the murders. Mr.

Coleman testified on his own behalf, and his counsel also presented the alibi testimony of Mary Tookes, Mr. Coleman's fiancé (R. 1451-57), as well as his mother, Dolly Leverson (R. 1457).

THE PENALTY PHASE

At the penalty phase, trial counsel presented two witnesses, Dolly Leverson and Mr. Coleman. Leverson testified that she lived in Liberty City, that Mr. Coleman went as far as the 10th grade in school, and that he excelled in basketball (2030-31). She also stated that Mr. Coleman had been convicted of some crimes before, but he acknowledged his guilt (R. 2031). Here, however, Mr. Coleman maintained that he was not guilty (R. 2031).

Finally, Leverson testified that Mr. Coleman is not a violent person (R. 2032), that she did not believe he could kill someone (R. 2032), and that Mr. Coleman was not in Pensacola at the time of the crimes (R. 2031).

Mr. Coleman testified that he wasn't in Pensacola at the time of the murders, that his blood didn't match, and that he didn't commit these crimes (R. 2032-34).

THE POSTCONVICTION EVIDENTIARY HEARING

At the postconviction evidentiary hearing, several witnesses testified about the ineffective assistance of counsel claim at the penalty phase.¹⁰ Marie Wims testified that she is the older sister of Dolly Leverson, Mr. Coleman's mother (PC-R. 612). According to Marie, her family came from Arlington,

Georgia (PC-R. 612). Marie's mother, Ruby Richardson Brannon George, had three children from a previous marriage (PC-R. 613). After the separation of that marriage, Ruby married Roy George in 1930 (PC-R. 613). Ruby had a total of sixteen children, but only six lived (PC-R. 620).

Around 1951, Marie's oldest brother, Willy, moved to Miami (PC-R. 620). Marie, Dolly and Ruby followed a few years later (PC-R. 621). Dolly was around eleven or twelve when she moved to Miami (PC-R. 621). Within a year of her arrival, Dolly became pregnant (PC-R. 622). She had the baby, but it was put up for adoption (PC-R. 622). About a year later, when Dolly was fourteen or fifteen, she got pregnant again. This produced Michael Coleman (PC-R. 622). The father was a man named Ernest Lee Coleman, and he was between twenty and twenty two years old (PC-R. 622, 624).

While pregnant with Michael, Dolly lived with Marie for a while, then she and Ernest moved in together (PC-R. 624). Dolly then went back home to Georgia where Ruby, her mother, was then living (PC-R. 624), because Marie and Ernest weren't able to take care of her during her pregnancy (PC-R. 625).¹¹

After Michael was born, Dolly returned to Miami.¹² but she left Michael in Georgia with her mother, Ruby (PC-R. 626).¹³ When Ruby became sick with diabetes, she and Michael went back to Miami so that Marie and her brother could take care of her (PC-R. 627). Michael remained with Ruby who was now sick (PC-R. 643).

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