IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL COLEMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC04-1520

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General
PL-01, The Capitol
Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579
(850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

On June 12, 2006, Baya Harrison moved to withdraw as counsel for Coleman in Circuit Court. (See PCR-S2/I 1009)

June 26, 2006, Mr. Harrison filed an "Initial Response to the May 4, 2006 Supreme Court Order Including Request to Submit a Detailed Response Containing Exhibits In Camera." (PCR-S2/I 999-1008) It denied the accusations (PCR-S2/I 1006), including a denial that Mr. Harrison abandoned

the Atkins' claim without Coleman's knowledge. (PCR-S2 1002) In it, Mr. Harrison stated that he has moved to withdraw from representing Coleman because of McClain's allegations. (PCR-S2/I 1001) Concerning possible attorney-client privilege, "[o]ut of an abundance of caution," Mr. Harrison stated that he was "duty bound to submit my detailed, documented response to the court and Mr. Coleman first in camera." (PCR-S2/I 1001-1002) Service was certified as made on the Assistant Attorney General, the Assistant State Attorney, DFS, The Fla. Commission on Capital Cases, Martin McClain, The Fla. Legislature, and defendant Coleman. (PCR-S2/I 1007-1008)

August 18, 2006, the Circuit Court granted Mr. Harrison's Motion to Withdraw and appointed Harry Brody as Coleman's counsel in Circuit Court. The Order included the same language as the order appointing Mr. Harrison: **"The Court finds that Mr. Brody meets the statutory requirements for appointment and has the ethical standards necessary for such representation in accordance with Fla. Stat. §27.710(5)(b)."** (PCR-S2/I 1009-10)

June 5, 2007, the Circuit Court granted Mr. Harrison's request to file a more detailed response in camera and directed that, by June 22, 2007, the detailed response be provided to the Circuit Court under seal with copies to "counsel for Defendant, Martin McClain, and to Lori Job, Assistant General Counsel for the Department of Financial Services." (PCR-S2 1032-33) The Order was copied to several people, including Martin McClain, Harry Brody, and defendant Coleman. (PCR-S2/I 1033)

On July 3, 2007, Mr. McClain filed his **Second Motion to Disqualify Judge ...**, which alleged that on June 25, 2007, Mr. McClain received a

package from Mr. Harrison that contained "assertions, allegations and accusations" prejudicial to Mr. Coleman, including accusing Coleman "of endeavoring to embroil Mr. Harrison in criminal activity." (PCR-S2/I 1039-40) The Motion alleged that, because the materials are under seal, were sent to Circuit Judge Geeker, and being kept from Coleman's current counsel, they constitute an ex parte communication with the Judge, requiring the disqualification of Judge Geeker. (PCR-S2/I 1039-40) The Motion was certified as served on Coleman's counsel, Harry Brody. (PCR-S2/I 1050) On July 13, 2007, **Circuit Judge Geeker denied the Second Motion to Disqualify Judge as "legally and facially insufficient."** (PCR-S2/I 1071)

July 17, 2007, the Circuit Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the Atkins claim. (PCR-S2/II 1072-1203) At the evidentiary hearing, prior to taking evidence, Mr. Brody initiated a discussion of Mr. McClain's Second Motion to Disqualify Judge and Notice that Mr. Coleman May Be Incompetent, first discussing the competency portion of it (PCR-S2/II 1075-77) then discussing the disqualification portion of it (PCR-S2/II 1077-80). In the midst of the discussion, Judge Geeker indicated that he rejects Mr. McClain's "standing to raise issues on behalf of Mr. Coleman" and that Mr. Brody is Coleman's "counsel of record." (PCR-S2/II 1076) Mr. Brody requested that the "Court make some representation on the record that the Court either has or has not reviewed those" documents, to which Judge Geeker responded, "I have not reviewed the submissions from Mr. Harrison." (PCR-S2/II 1076) Brody responded, "Well, that's good then" and asked the Court to dispose of the Atkins claim "before you deal with any of the

allegations" concerning Harrison, "then we wouldn't have any problem." Judge Geeker responded, "All right" and reiterated that he had not yet reviewed Harrison's submission. Mr. Brody concluded: "That's good, I think, from our point of view." (PCR-S2/II 1078-79)

After the Judge interviewed Coleman concerning competency (PCR-S2/II 1081-87), Dr. Toomer and Dr. Larson testified concerning the Atkins claim (PCR-S2/II 1093-1180).

August 1, 2007, Judge Geeker issued his order on the Atkins issue, denying relief, (PCR-S2/III 1311-96) and on August 2, 2007, he conducted a hearing concerning Harrison's fees (notation that transcript remains sealed at PCR-S2/III 1405).

For any preserved disqualification claims, the standard of review on appeal is de novo. See Mansfield v. State, 911 So.2d 1160, 1170 (Fla. 2005).

A. First Motion to Disqualify.

The State has five responses to this claim. Each supports the rejection of the claim.

First, when Mr. McClain filed this Motion to Disqualify Judge, he was not Coleman's counsel in Circuit Court. His motion to withdraw had already been granted. As such, the pleading was a nullity, See, e.g., Waite v. Wellington Boats, Inc., so it cannot be the basis of asserting an appellate claim. Further, Mr. McClain was not a "party" in the proceedings concerning Mr. Harrison's fees. Instead, he was an "interested person." Compare §27.711(12) ("any interested person may advise the court...") with Department

of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Dubay, 522 So.2d 109, 110 (Fla.5th DCA 1988) ("A party to an action is defined as 'a person whose name is designated on record as plaintiff or defendant'"); Department of Revenue v. Wrobel, 739 So.2d 670, 672 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) ("State of Michigan was not a party and not subject to the trial courts order requiring it to pay the father's fees"). People "interested" in registry counsel's fees do not have standing to file motions attacking the presiding Circuit Judge.¹⁸ Indeed, that person's role is limited to the fees question and provides no license to question other matters in the case. Therefore, this claim was not preserved through a valid motion to disqualify.

Second, the Motion to Disqualify was directed at the proceedings concerning Mr. Harrison's fees, not the Atkins proceedings (See PCR-S2/I 987), with Mr. McClain claiming to be a "party" to the fees-proceedings (PCR-S2 986). The Motion did not develop an argument that Judge Geeker is, or appears to be, biased concerning Coleman's pending Atkins proceeding. Instead, it asked for Judge Geeker "to disqualify himself from presiding over ... proceedings ordered by the Florida Supreme Court regarding Baya

¹⁸ There are a couple of undeveloped ambiguous references to "prejudged the matter remanded by the Florida Supreme Court" (PCR-S2/I 986), "prejudged the matter upon which the Florida Supreme Court has ordered this Court to conduct a hearing" (PCR-S2/I 988), "prejudgment of the matters to be heard" (PCR-S2/I 988-89), and "disqualify himself from further proceedings in this cause" (PCR-S2/I 990), and an allegation of an appearance that the Circuit Court is attempting to avoid a mental retardation hearing (PCR-S2/I 988 n.3)

Harrison in the above-captioned action." (PCR-S2 986)¹⁹ Thus, the claim below was not the same as the claim on appeal, thereby failing to preserve the claim pertaining to this appeal by Coleman in SC04-1520. See Asay v. State, 769 So.2d 974, 981 (Fla. 2000) ("these [postconviction] grounds were not raised by Asay in the trial court in a renewed motion for recusal, so they are not properly before this Court").

Third, if somehow the Motion to Disqualify cognizably preserved a claim concerning Mr. Coleman's rights, the Motion was facially insufficient when viewed de novo on appeal. On its face, the language in the Order that the Motion targets was not indicative of any improper bias, but instead it was required by law. Section 27.710(5), Fla. Stat., requires that --

¹⁹ At one point, the Motion dropped a footnote alleging that Harrison "appear[s]" to be "burdened by a conflict of interest" due to this Court's remand concerning his fees and alleging that Coleman was afraid that Harrison was "working with the State" because Coleman was told that Harrison attempted to obtain Coleman's "personal effects" prior to his re-appointment. (PCR-S2/I 988 n.2) However, there was no attempted argument in the Motion that somehow this allegation required Judge Geeker to disqualify himself.

The Motion dropped another footnote indicating that it "**appears**" that, by its order appointing Mr. Harrison, the Circuit Court is "following the State's suggestion and trying to short circuit" this Court's remand regarding the Atkins issue. PCR-S2/I 988 n.3) However, a passing footnote's **undeveloped** assertion of a **speculative** "appear[ance]" in which there is no link between a party's advocacy **against** the motion to withdraw and the subsequent ruling **granting** that motion is insufficient; further, a ruling is not a valid ground for disqualification, as discussed in the text above; and, the Circuit Court at that May 15 hearing, which was referenced in the footnote, expressly indicated that this Court had already "concluded that an Atkins claim in fact exists" (PCR-S3 1689). Moreover, ISSUE V.A does not argue the content of footnote 3 of the Motion, rendering any such argument unpreserved at the appellate level. See Jones, 966 So.2d at 330; Whitfield, 923 So.2d at 379; Hall, 823 So.2d at 763; Lawrence, 831 So.2d at 133; Sweet, 810 So.2d at 870.

The trial court must issue an order of appointment which contains specific findings that the appointed counsel meets the statutory requirements and has the high ethical standards necessary to represent a person sentenced to death.

This Court has remanded cases for the Circuit Court to address Section 27.710(5) requirements. For example, Sweet v. State, 880 So.2d 578 (Fla. 2004):

The trial court must issue an order of appointment which contains specific findings that the appointed counsel meets the statutory requirements and has the high ethical standards necessary to represent a person sentenced to death.

Accord Ferrell v. State, 880 So.2d 578 (Fla. 2004). Therefore, the trial court used the same language in subsequently appointing Mr. Brody to represent Coleman. (See PCR-S2/I 1010)

Fourth, the gravamen of the Motion is a complaint about a decision of the trial court to appoint Mr. Harrison, which is essentially a ruling of the trial court, which is facially insufficient to justify disqualification. See, e.g., Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 480-81 (Fla. 1998).

Thus, in Correll v. State, 698 So.2d 522, 524-525 (Fla. 1997) (capital case), an allegation based on an adverse ruling and an allegation "that Judge Stroker demonstrated bias against Correll's counsel when he suggested that the Office of Capital Collateral Representative (CCR) uses chapter 119 as a delaying tactic in death penalty cases" were insufficient for disqualification. See also Mansfield v. State, 911 So.2d 1160, 1168-1171 (Fla. 2005) (capital case; during penalty phase Judge questioned plea offer; "nothing in the statement that indicated bias or prejudice against Mansfield"); Kokal v. State, 901 So.2d 766, 774-75 (Fla. 2005) (capital

case; "Kokal asserted that Judge Carithers could not be impartial because in *Kight* he had to consider the credibility of both O'Kelly and Hutto, and there he determined O'Kelly to be credible and Hutto not. In the instant action, Judge Carithers was once again faced with considering the credibility of O'Kelly and Hutto"; "fact that Judge Carithers had previously determined that O'Kelly was being truthful in the *Kight* action is not a legally sufficient ground for disqualification"); Chamberlain v. State, 881 So.2d 1087, 1097-98 (Fla. 2004) (capital case; Chamberlain alleged that, based on findings concerning Chamberlain's level of culpability in Judge's order sentencing co-perpetrator Thibault, "Chamberlain had a 'well grounded fear that he [would] not receive a fair sentencing hearing at the hands of the judge'"; "Judge Mounts did not err in denying the motion to recuse"); Waterhouse v. State, 792 So.2d 1176, 1192, 1195 (Fla. 2001) (capital case; prior to re-sentencing defendant, "Sentencing Judge, Robert E. Beach, commented that the subject is a dangerous and sick man and that many other women have probably suffered because of him"; "comment to the Commission did not constitute a prejudgment of any pending or future motions that the defendant might file").²⁰

²⁰ Since Mr. McClain disagreeing with the content of a ruling is not grounds for disqualification, the State does not discuss the reasonableness of the trial court appointing Mr. Harrison. However the State notes that the re-appointment comported with sound policy attempting to inject some continuity into Coleman's representation. See Fla. Dep't of Fin. Servs. v. Freeman, 921 So.2d 598, 603 (Fla. 2006) (J. Pariente concurring: "Although

And, **fifth**, less than a week after the trial court denied the disqualification motion, Mr. Harrison moved to withdraw, resulting in Harry Brody's appointment (PCR-S2/I 1009, 1009-10), thereby purging any supposed bias or conflict prior to the Atkins evidentiary hearing.²¹

B. Second Motion to Disqualify.

The Second Motion to Disqualify (PCR-S2 1037 et seq) was filed on July 3, 2007, while Harry Brody was counsel for Coleman in Circuit Court (See PCR-S2/I 1009-10). As the trial court noted, Mr. McClain had no "standing to raise issues on behalf of Mr. Coleman"; Mr. Brody is Coleman's "counsel of record." (PCR-S2/II 1076)²² Therefore, this motion was filed by someone, who at most, was an "interested person" concerning a very limited matter of attorney's fees and who did not represent Coleman in the Circuit Court, making the motion a nullity and insufficient for any relief at any level of

there may have been good reason to appoint this registry counsel over former CCRC counsel in each of these cases, it is surely preferable to preserve the ongoing attorney-client relationship whenever possible").

²¹ The State does not develop an argument in this brief specifically focused on contesting the merits of any claim that Judge Geeker should have disqualified himself from the fees hearing. Indeed, undersigned excused himself from that hearing, the transcript of that hearing appears to still be sealed, and the Circuit Court's Order concerning the fees has not been directly attacked in this appeal and accordingly DFS was not served with the Initial Brief. However, the State notes that most of its contentions pertaining to the pending Atkins proceeding also pertain to the fees proceedings: a person "interested" in registry counsel's fees does not have standing to file motions attacking the presiding Circuit Judge; the language in the Order that the Motion targets was not indicative of any improper bias, but instead it was required by law; the Motion improperly seeks disqualification due to a court ruling; and, whatever unreasonable fear there may have been was purged when Harrison withdrew again.

²² Indeed, Mr. Brody was not even consulted about the motion before it was filed. (PCR-S2/II 1079)

the judiciary. See Waite v. Wellington Boats, Inc. Compare §27.711(12) with Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Dubay; Department of Revenue v. Wrobel.

Thus, Coleman's counsel (Brody) did not adopt the second motion to Disqualify; instead, stating that he "didn't have anything to do with it" and that he was not "consulted." (PCR-S2/II 1079) Accordingly, Coleman's Circuit Court counsel expressly waived this claim upon Circuit Judge Geeker's assurance counsel that he had not reviewed the sealed materials from Harrison, Coleman's counsel stating "that's good" that the Circuit Judge had not looked at Harrison's materials. (See PCR-S2/II 1076-79)

Yet further, it appears that the disqualification claim has changed **from** the second motion's assertion that an ex parte communication occurred due to Mr. Harrison's submission of sealed materials to the Circuit Court (See PCR-S2/I 1039-40) **to** Judge Geeker's order that materials be submitted (See IB 94). As such, the appellate claim was not preserved by presenting it to the Circuit Court. See Asay, 769 So.2d at 981 ("As for the incidents occurring during the postconviction proceeding ... not raised by Asay in the trial court in a renewed motion for recusal, so they are not properly before this Court").

Moreover, the second motion was untimely. The second motion attacked Harrison's submission of sealed materials, but on June 26, 2006, Harrison's response indicated that he wished to submit sensitive materials under seal (PCR-S2/I 999-1008), and on June 5, 2007, the Judge granted that request in an order copied to McCain, Brody, and Coleman (PCR-S2/I 1032-33). Thus, as

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